Environment for Development

Discussion Paper Series

October 2009

EfD DP 09-20

Taxes, Permits, and the Adoption of Abatement Technology under Imperfect Compliance

Clara Villegas and Jessica Coria





Environment for Development

The **Environment for Development** (EfD) initiative is an environmental economics program focused on international research collaboration, policy advice, and academic training. It supports centers in Central America, China, Ethiopia, Kenya, South Africa, and Tanzania, in partnership with the Environmental Economics Unit at the University of Gothenburg in Sweden and Resources for the Future in Washington, DC. Financial support for the program is provided by the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency (Sida). Read more about the program at www.efdinitiative.org or contact info@efdinitiative.org.

Central America

Environment for Development Program for Central America Centro Agronómico Tropical de Investigacíon y Ensenanza (CATIE)

Email: centralamerica@efdinitiative.org



China

Environmental Economics Program in China (EEPC) **Peking University**

Email: EEPC@pku.edu.cn



Ethiopia

Environmental Economics Policy Forum for Ethiopia (EEPFE) Ethiopian Development Research Institute (EDRI/AAU)

Email: ethiopia@efdinitiative.org



Kenya

Environment for Development Kenya Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis (KIPPRA) Nairobi University

Email: kenya@efdinitiative.org



South Africa

Environmental Policy Research Unit (EPRU) University of Cape Town

Email: southafrica@efdinitiative.org



Tanzania

Environment for Development Tanzania University of Dar es Salaam

Email: tanzania@efdinitiative.org











Taxes, Permits, and the Adoptation of Abatement Technology under Imperfect Compliance

Clara Villegas and Jessica Coria

Abstract

This paper analyzes the effects of the choice between price-based and quantity-based emissions regulations on compliance incentives and social welfare in the presence of incomplete enforcement and technology adoption. We show that if the regulator does not adjust the level of the policies in response to the advent of the new technology, the extent of violations under tradable emissions permits (TEPs)—in contrast to taxes—decreases with the rate of technology adoption. However, in terms of welfare, the ranking of the instruments is not so straightforward: taxes may induce lower emissions damages, while TEPs induce lower abatement, investment, and expected enforcement costs. Therefore, the overall ranking depends on the extent to which these effects offset each other.

Key Words: Technological adoption, environmental policy, imperfect compliance, enforcement, social welfare

JEF Classification: L51, Q55, K32, K42

© 2009 Environment for Development. All rights reserved. No portion of this paper may be reproduced without permission of the authors.

Discussion papers are research materials circulated by their authors for purposes of information and discussion. They have not necessarily undergone formal peer review.

Contents

Introduction	1
1. Adoption Incentives	3
2. Compliance Behavior and Technological Adoption	5
2.1 Uniform Emissions Tax	6
2.2 Tradable Emissions Permits	9
3. Policy Instruments Comparison	13
3.1 Extent of Violation in Reported Emissions and Permit Holdings	13
3.2 Enforcement Strategy for Perfect Compliance	13
3.3 Social Welfare	15
4. Concluding Remarks	17
References	19
Appendix	23

Taxes, Permits, and the Adoption of Abatement Technology under Imperfect Compliance

Clara Villegas and Jessica Coria*

Introduction

In the long run, technological change is considered the primary solution for environmental problems (Kneese and Schultze 1978), and it has long been recognized that environmental policy creates incentives that affect the process of technological development (Jaffe et al. 2002). Many scholars, therefore, have analyzed how alternative policy instruments affect the rate and direction of technological change. Among market-based policies, the analyses tend to support the use of emissions taxes (price-based regulation) over tradable emissions permits, or TEPs (quantity-based regulation), when the regulator is myopic and does not adjust the level of the policy in response to the advent of the new technology. The fact that the emissions price is fixed under the tax, while it decreases under permits, creates a wedge between the two instruments and between the rates of adoption they induce.

Previous analyses of technology adoption under different policies share a common and implicit assumption: firms perfectly obey environmental regulations, so enforcement of policies is costless. However, reality generally differs from this assumption. In some cases, a fraction of firms do not comply with an environmental regulation as a result of incomplete enforcement, and the expected enforcement costs can be quite significant.

We are grateful to Carlos A. Chávez, Katrin Millock, Katarina Nordblom, and Thomas Sterner for their valuable comments and suggestions. We thank participants in the March 2008 Policy Instruments course, as well as the seminar participants, at the University of Gothenburg for all their helpful comments. Economic support from the Swedish Agency for International Development Cooperation (SIDA) to the capacity building program at the Environmental Economics Unit of the University of Gothenburg is gratefully acknowledged.

^{*} Clara Villegas-Palacio (corresponding author), Department of Economics, School of Business, Economics, and Law, University of Gothenburg, Box 640, SE 405 30 Gothenburg, Sweden, (email) clara.villegas@economics.gu.se, (tel) +46 (0) 31 786 2642, (fax) +46 (0) 31 786 1043, and Facultad de Minas, Universidad Nacional de Colombia Medellín, Colombia (email) civillegas@unal.edu.co; and Jessica Coria, Department of Economics, School of Business, Economics, and Law, University of Gothenburg, Box 640, SE 405 30 Gothenburg, Sweden, (email) jessica.coria@economics.gu.se.

¹ See Requate (2005) for a survey and discussion of recent developments on the incentives provided by environmental policy instruments for both adoption and development of advanced abatement technology.

² If the regulator can anticipate new technology or is able to react on it optimally, taxes and permits provide equivalent incentives.

The interaction between incomplete enforcement and technology adoption can be thought of in two ways: 1) incomplete enforcement, and therefore the possibility that firms do not comply with a regulation, may influence the profits of firms from technology adoption and the adoption decision; and 2) the existence of a new technology that reduces abatement costs may influence a firm's compliance decisions, since the marginal benefit of violations is reduced. Therefore, inclusion of technology adoption considerations in a comparison of different policy instruments, in a world of imperfect compliance, may change the ranking of the instruments since such considerations induce different adoption-compliance behaviors.

The purpose of this present paper is to analyze the interaction between incomplete enforcement and technology adoption under price-based and quantity-based policies. We compare emissions taxes and TEPs in terms of 1) how compliance changes with the use of new technologies; 2) how technology adoption is affected by enforcement parameters, such as the probability of being monitored and the structure of sanctions imposed, if noncompliance is detected, and 3) how the ranking of price-based and quantity-based policies that use a social welfare measure is affected by the adoption-compliance output. For the sake of comparing TEPs and uniform taxes, we assume that the quantity of permits initially issued by the authority corresponds to the environmental target used by the authority to set the tax rate.

To our knowledge, the interaction between technology adoption and imperfect compliance and its effects has not yet been directly addressed. Rousseau and Proost (2005) included rule making, implementation, monitoring, and enforcement costs for both firms and the government in their cost comparison of policy instruments. While they compare emissions taxes, emissions standards, and technology standards, they do not compare instruments within the market-based regulations, as does this paper. Montero (2002) studied the impact of incomplete enforcement of a regulation on the choice between price and quantity instruments, and showed that both instruments perform equally well, as long as the benefit and cost curves are known with certainty. However, if these curves are uncertain to the regulator, the quantity instrument performs relatively better than the price instrument.³

_

³ The ranking of priced-based versus quantity-based environmental regulations was first studied by Weitzman (1974), who analyzed the choice between these two types of instruments when there is uncertainty. Since Weitzman (1974), the comparison between price- and quantity-based policies has been further developed (Roberts and Spence 1976; Yohe 1978; Finkelshtain and Kislev 1997; Hoel and Karp 2002; Montero 2002; Moledina et al. 2003; Baldursson and von der Fehr 2004; Quirion 2004; Stranlund and Ben-Haim 2008).

Macho-Stadler (2006) compared total final emissions levels achieved with standards and with market-based instruments, when imperfect compliance is present, and found that taxes are superior to the other instruments. There are two important differences between her analysis and our paper. First, when comparing market-based instruments, she considers the optimal audit policy to be one that minimizes total emissions, subject to an enforcement budget constraint. We, on the other hand, believe that the enforcement authority's goal is to minimize the extent of violations. Second, she does not consider the effect of an enforcement policy on technology adoption, while we do.

In line with the literature on technology adoption (for example, Milliman and Price 1989; Jung et al. 1996; Requate 1995, 2005; Requate and Unold 2001, 2003, Requate 2005), our results suggest that permits do not provide higher adoption incentives than emissions taxes when the regulator is myopic. However, since the diffusion of the cost-reducing technology lowers the aggregate marginal abatement costs—and therefore it lowers the permit price—the benefits of violating the environmental regulation are reduced at the margin, leading both adopters and nonadopters to modify their compliance behavior. Thus, in contrast to taxes, the extent of violations under TEPs decreases with the rate of adoption, as well as with the enforcement efforts. In terms of welfare, the ranking of instruments is not straightforward. On one hand, there is less damage from emissions with taxes (given a myopic regulator). On the other hand, abatement costs, investment costs, and expected enforcement costs under taxes are never lower than when using TEPs. Thereby, the overall and final ranking depends on the extent to which these effects offset each other.

The paper is organized as follows. Section 1 presents the model of adoption and section 2 introduces the compliance behavior under emissions taxes and TEPs. Section 3 compares these policies under three criteria: 1) the extent of environmental violation, 2) the required enforcement strategy for perfect compliance, and 3) the social welfare achieved under each scheme. Finally, section 4 offers some concluding remarks.

1. Adoption Incentives

In our study, a competitive industry of size consists of a group of risk-neutral firms that are homogeneous in abatement costs. In the absence of environmental regulation, each firm emits one unit of the same pollutant as the others. The abatement costs of each firm are a function of the firm's emissions level e and are denoted c(e). The abatement cost function is strictly convex and decreasing in emissions: c'(e) < 0; c''(e) > 0. Emissions generate damages represented by the also strictly convex function D(e), with D'(e) > 0, D''(e) > 0. Assume that

there is an environmental authority that sets an environmental target—a maximum level of emissions—and then chooses a policy instrument to reach this target.

A new technology appears and firms must decide whether or not to invest. The new technology allows firms to reduce their emissions at a lower cost, given by kc(e), where $k \in (0,1)$ is a parameter that represents the drop in abatement cost.⁴ Buying and installing the new technology implies a fixed cost that differs among firms. A fraction α of the firms in the industry (hereafter called Group 1), have a lower fixed investment cost, \underline{k} . Individual firms in Group 2 (which corresponds to a fraction 1- α of the industry) have to invest a higher amount, represented by \overline{k} , if they want to adopt the new technology ($\underline{k} < \overline{k}$).

Firms can be regulated through uniform emissions taxes or TEPs. In an emissions tax system, firms are required to self-report their emissions. A firm is noncompliant if it attempts to evade some part of its tax responsibilities by reporting an emissions level that is lower than its true level. In the case of regulation using tradable permits, a firm must buy one permit for each unit of emissions. A firm that buys fewer permits than its emissions is out of compliance.

Let EC_A and EC_{NA} be the total expected costs of abatement and compliance for adopters and nonadopters of the new technology, respectively. These costs are composed of abatement costs and expected fines, should a firm be caught violating. Let $\Delta EC = EC_{NA} - EC_A$ be the expected savings from adoption. Firms will adopt the new technology if adoption implies savings larger than or equal to its fixed investment cost.

Let λ denote the fraction of firms adopting the new technology. There are three possible values for λ , depending on the extent to which adoption savings offset the adoption costs:

Zero technology adoption. No firm will adopt the technology if adoption savings do not offset the lowest fixed investment cost; that is, if $\Delta EC < \underline{k}$, then adoption is not profitable for any firms, and $\lambda = 0$.

Partial technology adoption. If adoption savings range from \underline{k} to \overline{k} , then adoption is profitable only for firms in Group 1, that is, $\lambda = \alpha$ if $\underline{k} \le \Delta EC < \overline{k}$.

⁴ Since the interval in which *k* belongs is open, the new technology always reduces the abatement costs, but never makes them equal to zero, that is, there is no perfectly clean technology.

Universal technology adoption. If adoption savings are greater than the highest investment costs, then all firms in the industry will adopt the new technology, that is, $\lambda = 1$, if $\Delta EC \ge \overline{k}$.

Note that since adoption savings depend on the expected costs of abatement and compliance, the rate of adoption varies with the stringency of the policy, with the choice of policy instrument, and with the monitoring and enforcement design.

2. Compliance Behavior and Technological Adoption

In line with Malik (1990), Stranlund and Dhanda (1999), Stranlund and Chávez (2000), and Chávez et al. (2008), we assume that the regulator cannot observe a firm's emissions unless costly monitoring is undertaken. Let π denote the probability that the regulator audits a firm. We assume that π is known among firms and that once the regulator monitors a firm, it is able to determine the firm's compliance status perfectly. We assume that the probability of a firm being monitored is exogenous and uniform across firms.⁵ If the monitoring reveals that the firm is noncompliant, it faces the penalty F(v), where v is the extent of the violation. This is a strictly convex function in the level of violation: F'(v) > 0; F''(0) > 0.⁶ For zero violation, the penalty is zero, F(0)=0, but the marginal penalty is greater than zero, F'(0)>0.⁷

The game between the regulator and firms is described by a two-stage mechanism.

Stage 1. The environmental authority sets the environmental target before the arrival of the new technology and chooses a policy instrument to reach it. We assume that the regulator does not modify the level of the environmental policy in response to the availability of the new

⁵ As Sandmo (2002) notes, the assumption of an exogenous probability of being monitored is a simplification. It is more realistic to assume that monitoring probability is a function of regulated firms' actions. We leave this point for future work.

⁶ Standlund, Chávez, and Villena (2008) referred to some authors who assume that the penalty function is strictly convex: Harford (1978; 1987), Sandmo (2002), Cremer and Gahvari (2002), and Macho-Stadler and Perez Castrillo (2006). Strandlund, Chávez, and Villena (2008) assume a linear penalty function in their model, an assumption that is not common in the literature. If the probability of being monitored is exogenous and the marginal penalty is constant, the decision on reporting emissions will be of the type reporting everything or reporting nothing. If the price of emissions is lower than the expected marginal fine (constant), a firm will report all of its emissions, while if the price of emissions is higher than the expected marginal fine, it will not report any of its emissions (see Sandmo 2002; Heyes 2000).

⁷ In order to allow perfect compliance to be a possible choice, we do not rule out the possibility that the marginal penalty, when violation is zero, is higher than the marginal abatement cost evaluated at the required emission level.

technology.⁸ The enforcement strategy is exogenously determined and consists of a probability of being monitored and a sanction scheme. The enforcement strategy is set regardless of the regulatory scheme selected by the environmental authority, that is, firms face the same enforcement policy independent of the regulation mechanism.⁹

Stage 2. Firms make compliance and adoption decisions. The adoption decision is based on the comparison of the expected costs of abatement and compliance under the old and the new technology.¹⁰

The next subsections analyze the rate of adoption and the adopters' and nonadopters' compliance behavior under both market-based instruments.

2.1. Uniform Emissions Tax

Let us assume that firms must pay a uniform tax t per unit of pollutant emitted and that they self-report their emissions. If a firm makes a truthful report, the total amount of taxes to be paid is te. Because there is incomplete enforcement, the firm could try to evade a fraction of its tax liability by reporting a lower level of emissions. If the firm reports emissions equal to r, where r < e, then the total tax payment is given by tr. In this case, the firm's violation equals the difference between the actual emissions and reported emissions, $v_i = e_i - r_i$. If the firm is caught in violation, a penalty is imposed according to the penalty function explained above.

Adopters select the emissions and report levels that minimize their expected costs of abatement and compliance:¹¹

⁸ Requate and Unold (2003) analyzed incentives through environmental-policy instruments to adopt advanced abatement technologies when the regulator anticipates new technologies, and showed that taxes and permits are equivalent if the regulator moves just after firms have invested. If, by contrast, the regulator moves prior to the firms' investment decisions, only permits will succeed in inducing first best outcomes.

⁹ This assumption does not contradict reality since in many cases the institutional arrangements separate the design of the regulatory instrument from the design of enforcement strategies. However, in a subsequent section of the present paper, we consider the case where the monitoring probability is set to guarantee perfect compliance according to the selected policy instrument.

¹⁰ Authors, such as Lai et al. (2003), argue that a surprisingly large number of firms comply with pollution regulations, even though the expected penalties for noncompliance are low. They establish environmental social norm models that consider collective environmental actions among firms. Our model does not include the effect of social norms or nonmonetary sanctions in case of noncompliance; instead we consider the expected monetary fines imposed by the enforcement authority to be the only costs of noncompliance.

¹¹ The problem of the firms that do not accept the new abatement technology is analogous to equation (1); the main difference is that the abatement costs for these kinds of firms is given by c(e) instead of kc(e).

$$Min_{er}kc(e) + tr + \pi F(e-r), \qquad (1)$$

s.t.
$$e-r \ge 0$$
.

Note that the constraint in the optimization problem reflects the fact that there are no economic incentives to over-report emissions levels. The Lagrange equation for equation (1) is $\varphi = kc(e) + tr + \pi F(e-r) - \beta [e-r]$ and the Kuhn-Tucker conditions, which are necessary and sufficient to determine a firm's optimal choices of emissions and permits, are:

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial e} = kc'(e) + \pi F'(e - r) - \beta = 0, \qquad (2)$$

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial r} = t - \pi F'(e - r) + \beta = 0, \tag{3}$$

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \beta} = e - r \ge 0; \beta \ge 0; \beta [e - r] = 0. \tag{4}$$

Proposition 1: With uniform emissions taxes, adopters' actual and reported levels of emissions are lower than those of nonadopters. In addition, the actual level of emissions of firms is independent of the enforcement strategy, while the reported level of emissions depends on the monitoring probability and on the sanctions structure.

Proof 1: To obtain a firm's emissions level, combine equations (1) and (2) to get kc'(e) + t = 0. Each firm chooses its emissions levels, such that the marginal abatement cost equals the tax rate. The emissions levels for adopters and nonadopters are, respectively:

$$e_{A}(t) = \{e | kc'(e) + t = 0\},$$
 (5)

$$e_{NA}(t) = \{e | c'(e) + t = 0\}.$$
 (6)

Since there is a uniform tax rate, in equilibrium firms' marginal abatement costs are equal, irrespective of their adoption status: $c'(e_{_{NA}}) = kc'(e_{_{A}})$. Given that $k \in (0,1)$, it is necessary that $c'(e_{_{NA}}) < c'(e_{_{A}})$, which is only possible (given the properties of the abatement cost function) if $e_{_{NA}} > e_{_{A}}$. Note that since the tax is exogenous and not influenced by the enforcement strategy, the actual emissions of firms do not depend on the parameters of the enforcement problem, which is in line with Harford (1978) and the standard in the literature.

Let us now look at a firm's emissions report and extent of violation. When the firm is noncompliant, then e-r>0, which from equation (4) implies that $\beta=0$ and $\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial r}=t-\pi F'(e-r)=0$. The report levels of adopters and nonadopters firms are, respectively:

$$r_A(t,\pi,F) = \{r | t - \pi F'(e_A - r_A) = 0\},$$
 (7)

$$r_{NA}(t,\pi,F) = \left\{ r \middle| t - \pi F'(e_{NA} - r_{NA}) = 0 \right\}.$$
(8)

Equations (7) and (8) state that firms choose to report a level of emissions, such that the marginal expected fine equals the marginal benefit of noncompliance, that is, the tax. Combining both equations, we obtain $e_{\scriptscriptstyle A}-r_{\scriptscriptstyle A}=e_{\scriptscriptstyle NA}-r_{\scriptscriptstyle NA}$. Note that $r_{\scriptscriptstyle NA}>r_{\scriptscriptstyle A}$, since $e_{\scriptscriptstyle NA}>e_{\scriptscriptstyle A}$. Hence, the emissions reported by adopters are lower than the emissions reported by nonadopters. Q.E.D.

Proposition 2: With uniform taxes, the extent of violation of firms is independent of the adoption status and is therefore the same for adopters and nonadopters of the new technology.

Proof 2: The size of violation is given by $v(t, \pi, F) = e(t) - r(t, \pi, F)$. From equations (7) and (8), we obtain that $\pi F'(e_{_{A}} - r_{_{A}}) = \pi F'(e_{_{NA}} - r_{_{NA}})$, and since the enforcement strategy is exogenously set and is independent of the adoption status, it is straightforward to observe that $e_{_{A}} - r_{_{A}} = e_{_{NA}} - r_{_{NA}}$. Q.E.D.

The intuition behind this result is as follows. On one hand, since the enforcement strategy does not depend on adoption status, the expected marginal cost of evasion does not change with adoption. On the other hand, the marginal benefit of violation does not depend on adoption status either, since it is given by the unit tax rate. Therefore, given that the marginal benefits and expected marginal costs of disobeying the law are the same for all firms, the extent of the violation is the same, regardless of adoption status. Then, technological adoption does not provide additional incentives for compliance when emissions taxes are used.

The expected costs of abatement and compliance for adopters and nonadopters are expressed as:

$$EC_{A}(t, \pi, F) = kc(e_{A}(t)) + tr_{A}(t, \pi, F) + \pi F(e_{A}(t) - r_{A}(t, \pi, F))$$
, and (9)

$$EC_{NA}(t,\pi,F) = c(e_{NA}(t)) + tr_{NA}(t,\pi,F) + \pi F(e_{NA}(t) - r_{NA}(t,\pi,F)) . \tag{10}$$

Proposition 3: When uniform emissions taxes are used, the adoption rate does not depend on the enforcement strategy, but is determined only by the tax rate.

Proof 3: Subtracting equation (9) from equation (10), we obtain the adoption savings as follows:

$$\Delta EC = c(e_{NA}(t)) - kc(e_{A}(t)) + t[r_{NA}(t, \pi, F) - r_{A}(t, \pi, F)]. \tag{11}$$

Since $r_{NA}(t,\pi,F) - r_{A}(t,\pi,F) = e_{NA}(t) - e_{A}(t)$, equation (11) can be rewritten as:

$$\Delta EC = c(e_{NA}(t)) - kc(e_{A}(t)) + t[e_{NA}(t) - e_{A}(t)]. \tag{12}$$

The first and second terms in equation (11) give account of the decrease in abatement costs when the firm adopts the new technology. The third term gives account of the difference in tax payment on reported emissions without and with adoption. Note that adoption savings increase with the level of the tax and the extent of the reduction in abatement costs (i.e., they decrease in k). Incomplete enforcement does not affect the rate of adoption, since neither the emissions level nor the tax rate is a function of monitoring probability or of the sanctions structure. Q.E.D

2.2. Tradable Emissions Permits

A firm regulated by TEPs can abate a fraction of its emissions and buy permits to compensate for the remaining fraction. The equilibrium price of each permit is represented by p, and a firm that emits e should spend pe to buy permits. Assume that the authority issues L emissions permits each period and that the possession of a permit gives the legal right to emit one unit of pollutant. 12

In the presence of imperfect compliance, polluters have an incentive to buy a quantity of permits lower than e_i to reduce their expenditure in permits. Let l denote the quantity of permits held by a firm in equilibrium and l^0 be the number of emissions permits, if any, initially allocated to a firm. A firm is noncompliant if, after trading, it holds a number of permits that is

¹² For the sake of comparing TEPs and uniform taxes, we say that the quantity of permits initially issued by the authority corresponds to the environmental target used by the authority to set the tax rate.

lower than its corresponding units of emissions. The extent of violation is then given by v = e - l.

The permit price is endogenously determined by the violation level and technology adoption rate: the larger the extent of violation, then the lower the demand for permits and the lower the permit price. On the other hand, the diffusion of the new technology lowers the aggregate marginal abatement costs and therefore lowers the permit price. Since in the model the rate of adoption can take three discrete values, let us denote the price when no firm adopts the new technology p_{NA} , the price with partial adoption p_{PA} , and the price with universal adoption p_{UA} . By construction, p_{NA} coincides with the tax level set by the authority in a scenario of perfect compliance. It holds that $p_{NA} > p_{PA} > p_{UA}$, as will be shown in subsequent paragraphs.

Adopters select the emissions level and demand for permits that minimize total expected costs:

$$Min_{el}kc(e) + p[l-l^{\circ}] + \pi F(e-l) , \qquad (13)$$

s.t. $e-l \ge 0$.

The Lagrange equation for equation (13) is $\varphi = kc(e) + p[l - l^{\circ}] + \pi F(e - l) - \beta[e - l]$ and the Kuhn-Tucker conditions, which are necessary and sufficient to determine the firm's optimal choices of emissions and permits, are:

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial e} = kc'(e) + \pi F'(e-l) - \beta = 0 , \qquad (14)$$

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial l} = p - \pi F'(e - l) + \beta = 0$$
, and (15)

$$\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial \beta} = e - l \ge 0; \beta \ge 0; \beta [l - e] = 0 . \tag{16}$$

¹³ We assume that the enforcement authority keeps perfect track of each firm's permit holding, but can not observe emissions without a costly audit. Assume, for instance, that all transactions performed in the market have to be registered with the authority. Since the authority has information about initial allocation, it is able to have perfect information about each firm's permit holding at any point in time.

Proposition 4: With tradable emissions permits, the actual emissions and the quantity of permits that adopters hold in equilibrium are lower than the actual emissions and the quantity of permits that nonadopters hold in equilibrium. In addition, the level of emissions of firms is independent of the enforcement strategy, while the quantity of permits that firms hold in equilibrium depends on the permit price and on the monitoring probability and sanctions structure.

Proof 4: From the solution to the optimization problem, the level of emissions for adopters and nonadopters are, respectively:

$$e_{A}(p) = \{e | kc'(e) + p = 0\}, \text{ and}$$
 (17)

$$e_{NA}(p) = \{e|c'(e) + p = 0\}.$$
 (18)

Equations (17) and (18) state that in equilibrium, each firm chooses its emissions, such that the marginal abatement cost equals the permit price. Since the adopters' marginal abatement cost is lower, $e_{NA}(p) > e_A(p)$.

Let us now look at the quantity of permits firms hold in equilibrium. When the firm is noncompliant, then e-l>0, which from equation (16) implies that $\beta=0$ and $\frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial l}=p-\pi F'(e-l)=0$. The number of permits held by adopting and nonadopting firms is, respectively:

$$l_A(p,\pi,F) = \{l \mid p - \pi F'(e_A - l_A) = 0\}$$
, and (19)

$$l_{NA}(p,\pi,F) = \{ l | p - \pi F'(e_{NA} - l_{NA}) = 0 \} .$$
 (20)

Equations (19) and (20) show that, in equilibrium, firms hold a quantity of permits, such that the marginal expected fine equals the marginal benefit of noncompliance, that is, the permit price. Since the permit prices and the enforcement strategies faced by adopters and nonadopters are the same, from equations (19) and (20) we obtain that $e_A - l_A = e_{NA} - l_{NA}$. Given that $e_{NA} > e_A$, it follows that $l_{NA} > l_A$ for the equality to hold. Therefore, the quantity of permits held by adopters is lower than the quantity held by nonadopters. Q.E.D.

Proposition 5: With tradable emissions permits, a firm's extent of violation is independent of its adoption status and is therefore the same for adopters and nonadopters of the new technology. However, its extent of violation is decreasing in the rate of adoption.

Proof 5: Equations (19) and (20) state that the extent of violation is determined by the condition stating that the marginal expected fine equals the permit price. The extent of violation in a scenario of universal adoption is given by $\pi F'(v_{v_A}) = p_{v_A}$ and in a scenario of partial adoption by $\pi F'(v_{p_A}) = p_{p_A}$. Given that the permit price is decreasing in the rate of adoption, $F'(v_{v_A}) < F'(v_{v_A})$. Since the marginal penalty is increasing in the extent of violation, $v_{p_A} > v_{v_A}$. Q.E.D.

The extent of violation for adopters and nonadopters is given by $v(p(\pi,\lambda),\pi,F) = e(p(\pi,\lambda)) - l(p(\pi,\lambda),\pi,F)$. This result is in line with Stranlund and Dhanda (1999) and Chávez et al. (2008), who found that changes in abatement cost parameters do not affect the extent of violation as long as enforcement and the permit price remain the same. The uniform monitoring effort should be tied only to the observable equilibrium permit prices.¹⁴

The fact that the extent of violation is decreasing in the rate of adoption means that technology adoption does provide incentives to improve compliance when firms are regulated by TEPs. These incentives are directly related to the decrease in the permit price. Since the equilibrium price of permits falls with adoption, there is a decrease in the marginal benefit of violating and consequently the extent of violation is reduced.

The permit price that clears the market for each adoption rate is given by the equilibrium between supply and demand for permits. The supply of permits is determined by the total quantity of permits allocated by the environmental authority, and the demand for permits is the sum of the permits all firms decide to hold in equilibrium. The equilibrium permit price is given by:

$$p = \begin{cases} \left\{ p_{NA} \middle| L = \sum_{i=1}^{k} l_{NA} \right\} & \text{if } \lambda = 0 \\ \left\{ p_{PA} \middle| L = \sum_{i=1}^{\alpha n} l_{A} + \sum_{i=\alpha n}^{n} l_{NA} \right\} & \text{if } \lambda = \alpha \end{cases}$$

$$\left\{ p_{UA} \middle| L = \sum_{i=1}^{n} l_{A} \right\} & \text{if } \lambda = 1$$

$$(22)$$

¹⁴ Some authors have studied how targeting enforcement efforts to specific groups of firms can induce greater compliance with regulations (Harrington 1988; Russell 1990; Hardford 1991; Hardford and Harrington 1991; Livernois and McKenna 1999; Hentschel and Randal 2000; Friesen 2003; Rousseau 2007).

The permit price is increasing in monitoring probability, given that when the monitoring probability increases, the demand for permits increases. Permit price is decreasing in technology adoption: the larger the fraction of firms adopting the new technology, the lower the demand for permits, and therefore the larger the reduction in permit price. Hence, $p_{NA} > p_{PA} > p_{UA}$.

The adoption savings are given by:

$$\Delta EC = c(e_{NA}(p(\pi,\lambda)) - kc(e_{A}(p(\pi,\lambda))) + p(\pi,\lambda) [l_{NA}(p(\pi,\lambda),\pi,F) - l_{A}(p(\pi,\lambda),\pi,F)].$$
(21)

Adoption savings decrease as the new technology is diffused into the industry. The reduced price reduces the adoption savings and prevents high adoption cost firms from overinvesting because they can buy cheaper permits instead of investing. On the other hand, the adoption savings increase with the monitoring probability due to the increase in the permit price.

3. Policy Instruments Comparison

In this section, we compare taxes and TEPs under three criteria: 1) extent of violation in reported emissions and permit holdings of adopters and nonadopters of the new technology, 2) enforcement efforts, and 3) social welfare.

3.1. Extent of Violation in Reported Emissions and Permit Holdings

In previous sections, we analyzed the extent of violations in reporting and the quantity of permits held in equilibrium for the two alternative economic instruments in a context of technology adoption. The compliance incentives are given by the comparison between marginal expected costs of violation and marginal benefits of noncompliance. The marginal expected cost of noncompliance is the marginal expected sanction and is the same for adopters and nonadopters of the new technology since there are no targeted enforcement strategies. Therefore, the extent of violation is determined by the marginal benefits of noncompliance. If the tax rate is higher than the equilibrium permit price, then the extent of violation turns out to be higher under tax regulation.

3.2. Enforcement Strategy for Perfect Compliance

So far we have assumed that the regulator sets the monitoring probability π , regardless of the regulatory scheme. However, if the objective of the enforcement authority is to guarantee perfect compliance, and since the instruments differ in the violation they induce, monitoring

probabilities must vary between instruments and rates of adoption. Let us assume that the sanctioning structure [f,g] is constant and that the enforcement authority only adjusts the monitoring probability in order to guarantee perfect compliance. Table 1 presents the minimum monitoring probabilities required for the extent of violation to be zero under the two alternative instruments and three possible rates of adoption.

Table 1. Minimum Monitoring Probabilities for Comparison of Extent of Violation

Adoption rate	Taxes	Tradable permits	
Zero	$\pi_{\min NA}^{Taxes} = t/F'(0)$	$\pi_{\min_NA}^{Permits} = P_{NA} / F'(0)$	
Partial		$\pi_{\min_PA}^{Permits} = P_{PA} / F'(0)$	
Universal		$\pi^{Permits}_{\min_UA} = P_{UA} / F'(0)$	

Notice that under TEPs, but not under taxes, the minimum monitoring probability required for zero violation is a function of the rate of adoption. This result is in contrast to Amacher and Malik (1998), who found that the associated costs of enforcement faced by the regulator in a tax system depend on a firm's choice of technology. The key difference is driven by the assumption of a regulator engaging in ex ante regulation. Amacher and Malik (1998) assumed a bargaining process where the regulator offers the firm a less stringent policy, if the firm agrees to employ a more environmentally-friendly technology.

Thus, since compliance behavior is not affected by the adoption decision under taxes, the monitoring effort required to guarantee perfect compliance is independent of the adoption rate as well. In contrast, the enforcement effort to achieve perfect compliance decreases with the rate of adoption under TEPs.

14

¹⁵ Assuming perfect compliance is not a rare assumption in the literature. See, for example, Malik (1990), Malik (1992), Amacher and Malik (1998), Stranlund and Chávez (2000), and Chávez et al. (2008).

3.3. Social Welfare

In order to compare instruments, we define a social welfare function, W. Social welfare is given by aggregate damages from emissions D(e), the abatement costs C(e), the investment costs $I(\lambda)$, and the expected enforcement costs $E(\pi)$:

$$W = -D(e) - C(e) - I(\lambda) - E(\pi) . \tag{29}$$

Damages from emissions and abatement costs are a function of emissions level, which in the case of partial technology adoption should be calculated as the weighted average of adopters' and nonadopters' emissions: $\left\lceil (1-\alpha)e^{NA} + \alpha e^A \right\rceil$.

Investment cost, in the case of partial adoption, is given by the expenditure of the lower adoption cost firms, $\alpha \underline{k}$. In the case of universal adoption, such investment is equal to $\alpha k + (1-\alpha)\overline{k}$.

We assume that the enforcement efforts are intended to achieve perfect compliance. Therefore, the monitoring probabilities are set in order to induce zero violations and the expected enforcement costs are given by the monitoring costs times the number of audits required to achieve perfect compliance. If we assume that the fixed cost of auditing is equal to \overline{x} , then total expected enforcement costs are given by $E(\pi) = \overline{x}\pi_{\min}$.

Since policy instruments differ in the adoption profits they induce, there are six potential alternative welfare scenarios to analyze, as shown in table 2. (See the appendix for details of the components of the welfare function under each scenario of adoption.)

¹⁶ Notice that this is not an analysis of the cost-effectiveness of the instruments. Chávez et al. (2008) analyze the cost-effectiveness of a tradable emissions permit system in the presence of costly enforcement and conclude that a conventional tradable permits program cannot be cost-effective since the individual firms under a transferable emissions permit system do not internalize the monitoring costs required to induce perfect compliance. We do not address this point in our analysis.

¹⁷ If we keep the assumptions that the regulator sets the enforcement strategy regardless of the selected policy instrument and that it is not necessarily intended to achieve perfect compliance, the expected enforcement becomes equal across instruments and does not affect the ranking of instruments in terms of social welfare.

¹⁸ If we instead assume, as in sections 1 and 2 of this paper, that the monitoring probability is exogenous and is set regardless of the regulatory instrument used, we would have the same expected enforcement for both policies in all the cases.

Table 2. Scenarios for Welfare Comparison

Scenario	Adoption Rate			
	Taxes	Permits		
1	Zero	Zero		
2	Partial	Zero		
3	Universal	Zero		
4	Partial	Partial		
5	Universal	Partial		
6	Universal	Universal		

In scenario 1, there is no adoption under either scheme. Therefore, there is no difference in provided social welfare between the two policy instruments since they are both set at the same level and induce the same level of abatement, investment, and extent of violation.¹⁹

In scenarios 2 and 3, there is no technological adoption under permits. The permit price remains equal to the tax. Hence, both policies imply the same extent of violation and expected enforcement costs. However, since there is more technology adoption under taxes, the investment costs are higher and emissions are lower with taxes than with permits, implying higher abatement costs. Finally, the lower emissions level implies less damage from emissions.

In scenarios 4 and 6, both schemes induce partial and universal adoption, respectively. Since the permit price is lower than the tax (the gap is larger in scenario 6), violations and expected enforcement costs are lower under permits. Investments costs are the same, while permits are preferred to taxes when it comes to abatement costs. Again, the lower emissions level under taxes induces less damage from emissions, as in the previous cases.

Finally, in scenario 5, taxes lead to universal adoption, while permits lead to partial adoption. The permit price is lower than the tax, implying less violation and lower expected enforcement costs. In addition, permits imply lower investment costs and more damage from emissions.

16

¹⁹ Remember that under perfect compliance and zero technology adoption, the permit price equals the tax rate and therefore the abatement levels under the two policy schemes coincide.

In conclusion, since abatement costs, investment costs, and expected enforcement costs are never larger under permits, the critical element determining the ranking between taxes and permits is the damages from emissions function. On one hand, there are lower damages from emissions with taxes. On the other hand, abatement costs, investment costs, and expected enforcement costs with taxes are never lower than with permits. If the reduction in damages generated by a lower level of emissions under taxes is higher than the increase in abatement costs, investment costs, and expected enforcement costs, then taxes outperform permits in the social welfare function. The steeper the marginal damage from emissions, the larger the drop in damages produced by a reduction in emissions and therefore the higher the probability that taxes perform better than permits. The emissions level targeted by the policy also has an impact on the probability of taxes outperforming permits. If the policy is set such that the required final emissions level is higher than the optimal level, then the marginal damages at the target level are higher than the marginal damages at the optimal level, and therefore the probability for taxes to perform better than permits increases.

4. Concluding Remarks

The results presented in this paper are important for choosing and designing environmental regulations and their enforcement strategies. We analyze how the choice of policy instruments affects the incentives to comply with environmental regulations and to adopt new technologies in a context of technological change and incomplete enforcement. We have shown three main results.

First, compliance incentives are affected by the technology adoption rate under TEP regulation, but not under taxes. Indeed, the greater the adoption rate in a TEP system, the lower the permit price, and therefore the greater the incentives to comply with the regulation. The fact that the emissions price is fixed by the regulator under taxes, while it decreases under TEP, creates a wedge between the permits and the rates of adoption and compliance they induce. Therefore, the expected enforcement costs necessary to guarantee perfect compliance under TEPs are lower than under taxes. This becomes relevant in a setting where expected enforcement costs are an important component of the regulation costs, and when the regulatory agency is budget constrained and has as its main objective to achieve perfect compliance in reported emissions and emissions permit holding.

Second, the adoption rate under taxes is not influenced by the compliance behavior of firms, while under TEPs it is. In a setting of imperfect compliance, if the main purpose of the regulator is to spread the use of a new abatement technology to achieve a lower level of final

emissions, the traditional result that taxes are preferred over TEP regulations is not affected by the presence of weak enforcement and imperfect compliance.

Third, social welfare is composed of four elements that vary with the rate of adoption that each policy induces: 1) damages from emissions, 2) abatement costs, 3) investment cost, and 4) expected enforcement costs. We conclude that taxes never perform better than permits in terms of abatement costs, investment costs, and expected enforcement costs. However, the picture is different if we look at damage from emissions, since taxes induce less emissions than permits. Therefore, the final ranking will depend on the relative weight given to emissions damages, compared to the other effects. As stated earlier, for our welfare analysis, we considered the monitoring probability that ensures perfect compliance. A different result may arise if the only objective of the enforcement agency is to minimize aggregated emissions, as was explored by Macho-Stadler (2006).

There are some other aspects that in practice do affect the welfare comparison and that are outside the analysis of the present paper. Differences in distributional consequences and differences in political acceptability of the instruments are some of them. The stringency of the tax and the TEPs system is subject to complicated political economy process for instance. A regulator may know that permit prices will fall during the course of a TEPs program. It may therefore make the TEP scheme tougher than it would have with a tax scheme, to counteract.

One aspect not addressed in this paper is the effect of the rate of adoption on the optimal enforcement strategy. If the regulator wants to minimize enforcement, it could modify the parameters of the enforcement strategy in response to the adoption process, varying the probability of monitoring or the sanctions schemes. If firms could foresee this behavior, they could modify their initial adoption decisions, which in turn could affect social welfare and the incentives to comply with the regulation. In this sense, a hold-up problem arises, since the ex post optimal behavior of the regulator is not consistent with the optimal incentives provided to firms ex ante.

References

- Amacher, Gregory S., and Arun S. Malik. 1998. Instrument Choice When Regulators and Firms Bargain. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 35: 225–41
- Baldursson, Fridrik M., Nils-Henrik M. von der Fehr. 2004. Prices vs. Quantities: The Irrelevance of Irreversibility. *Scandinavian Journal of Economics* 106 (4): 805–821.
- Becker, Gary. 1968. Crime and Punishment: An Economic Approach. *The Journal of Political Economy* 76(2): 169–217.
- Chavez, Carlos A., Mauricio G. Villena, and John K. Stranlund. 2008. The Choice of Policy Instruments to Control Pollution under Costly Enforcement and Incomplete Information. Unpublished paper.
- Cohen, Mark A. 1999. Monitoring and Enforcement of Environmental Policy. In *International Yearbook of Environmental and Resource Economics 1999/2000*, edited by Tom Tietenberg and Henk Folmer. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar.
- Decker, Christopher S., and Christopher R. Pope. 2005. Adherence to Environmental Law: The Strategic Complementarities of Compliance Decisions. *The Quarterly Review of Economics and Finance* 45: 641–61.
- Finkelshtain, Israel, and Yoav Kislev. 1997. Prices versus Quantities: The Political Perspective. *Journal of Political Economy* 105, 83–100.
- Friesen, Lana. 2003. Targeting Enforcement to Improve Compliance with Environmental Regulations. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 46, 72–85.
- Harford, Jon D. 1978. Firm Behavior under Imperfectly Enforceable Pollution Standards and Taxes. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 5(1): 26–43.
- ———. 1987. Self-Reporting of Pollution and the Firm's Behavior under Imperfectly Enforceable Regulations. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 14(3): 293–303.
- ——. 1991. Measurement Error and State-Dependent Pollution Control Enforcement. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 21: 67–81.
- Harford, Jon D., and Winston Harrington. 1991. A Reconsideration of Enforcement Leverage When Penalties Are Restricted. *Journal of Public Economics* 45: 391–95.

- Harrington, Winston. 1988. Enforcement Leverage When Penalties Are Restricted. *Journal of Public Economics* 37: 29–53.
- Hentschel, E., and A. Randall. 2000. An Integrated Strategy to Reduce Monitoring and Expected Enforcement. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 15: 57–74.
- Hoel, Michael, and Larry Karp. 2002. Taxes versus Quotas for a Stock Pollutant. *Resource and Energy Economics* 24 (4): 367–84.
- Jaffe, Adam, Richard G. Newell, and Robert Stavins. 2002. Environmental Policy and Technological Change. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 22: 41–69.
- Jones, Carol A., and Suzanne Scotchmer. 1990. The Social Cost of Uniform Standards in a Hierarchical Government. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 19: 61–72.
- Jung, Ch., Krutilla, K., and Boyd, R., 1996. Incentives for Advanced Pollution Abatement Technology at the Industry Level: An Evaluation of Policy Alternatives. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management 30*: 95–111.
- Kneese, Allen., and Charles L. Schultze. 1978. *Pollution, Prices, and Public Policy*. Washington, DC: The Brookings Institute.
- Kaplow, Louis, and Steven Shavell. 1994. Optimal Law Enforcement with Self-Reporting of Behavior. *The Journal of Political Economy* 102(3): 583–606.
- Lai, Ching-Chong, Yang Chih-Yu, and Chang Juin-Jen. 2003. Environmental Regulations and Social Norms. *International Tax and Public Finance* 10: 63–75.
- Livernois, John, and C.J. McKenna. 1999. Truth or Consequences: Enforcing Pollution Standards with Self-Reporting. *Journal of Public Economics* 71: 415–40.
- Macho-Stadler, Inés. 2008. Environmental Regulation: Choice of Instruments under Imperfect Compliance. *Spanish Economic Review* 10(1): 1–21.
- Malik, Arun. 1990. Markets for Pollution Control when Firms Are Noncompliant. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 18: 97–106.
- ———. 1992. Enforcement Costs and the Choice of Policy Instruments for Controlling Pollution. *Economic Inquiry* 30(4): 714–21.
- ——. 1993. Self-Reporting and the Design of Policies for Regulating Stochastic Pollution. Journal of Environmental Economics and Management 24(3): 241–57.

- Milliman, S.R., and Prince, R., 1989. Firms Incentives to Promote Technological Change in Pollution Control. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 17, 247–265.
- Montero, Juan Pablo. 2002. Prices vs. Quantities with Incomplete Enforcement. *Journal of Public Economics* 85: 435–54.
- Moledina, Amyaz A., Jay S. Coggins, Stephen Polasky, and Christopher Costello. 2003. Dynamic Environmental Policy with Strategic Firms: Prices versus Quantities. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 45(2S): 356–76.
- Quirion, Philippe. 2004. Prices versus Quantities in a Second-Best Setting. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 29(3): 337–59.
- Requate, Till. 1995. Incentives to Adopt New Technologies under Different Pollution Control Policies. *International tax and Public Finance* 2(2): 295–317.
- ———. 2005. Dynamic Incentives by Environmental Policy Instruments: A Survey. *Ecological Economics* 54 (2–3): 175–95.
- Requate, Till, and Wolfram Unold, 2001. On the Incentives Created by Policy Instruments to Adopt Advanced Abatement Technology If Firms Are Asymmetric. *Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics* 157(4): 536–54.
- ——. 2003. Environmental Policy Incentives to Adopt Advanced Abatement Technology: Will the True Ranking Please Stand Up? *European Economic Review* 47(1): 125–46.
- Roberts, Marc J., and Michael Spence. 1976. Effluent Charges and Licenses under Uncertainty. *Journal of Public Economics* 5(3–4): 193–208.
- Rousseau, Sandra. 2007. Timing of Environmental Inspections: Survival of the Compliant. *Journal of Regulatory Economics* 32(1): 17–36.
- Rousseau, Sandra, and Stef Proost. 2005. Comparing Environmental Policy Instruments in the Presence of Imperfect compliance: A Case Study. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 32(3): 337–65.
- Sandmo, Agnar. 2002. Efficient Environmental Policy with Imperfect Compliance. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 23(1): 85–103.
- Stranlund, John K., and Kanwalroop K. Dhanda. 1999. Endogenous Monitoring and Enforcement of a Transferable Emissions Permit System. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management* 38(3): 267–82.

- Stranlund, John K. 2007. The Regulatory Choice of Noncompliance in Emissions Trading Programs. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 38(1): 99–117.
- Stranlund, John K., and Carlos A. Chávez. 2000. Effective Enforcement of a Transferable Emissions Permit System with a Self-Reporting Requirement. *Journal of Regulatory Economics* 18(2): 113–31.
- Stranlund, John K., Carlos A. Chávez, and Mauricio G. Villena. 2009, forthcoming. The Optimal Pricing of Pollution When Enforcement Is Costly. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*. doi:10.1016/j.jeem.2008.12.002
- Stranlund, John K., and Yakov Ben-Haim. 2008. Price-Based vs. Quantity-Based Environmental Regulation under Knightian Uncertainty: An Info-Gap Robust Satisficing Perspective. *Journal of Environmental Management* 87(3): 443–49.
- Yohe, Gary. W. 1978. Towards a General Comparison of Price Controls and Quantity Controls under Uncertainty. *The Review of Economic Studies* 45(2): 229–38.

Appendix

Table A1. Social Welfare Comparison by Components

Combination	Damages from abatement	Abatement costs	Investment costs	Expected enforcement costs	
	Scenario 1 Taxes $\lambda=0$; Permits $\lambda=0$				
Comparison $(t = P_{_{NA}})$	Taxes = Permits	Taxes = Permits	Taxes = Permits	Taxes = Permits	
Scenario 2 Taxes $\lambda = \alpha$; Taxes $\lambda = \alpha$					
Comparison $(t = P_{NA})$	Taxes ≻ Permits	Permits ≻ Taxes	Permits ≻ Taxes	Taxes = Permits	
Scenario 3 Taxes $\lambda=1$; Permits $\lambda=0$					
Comparison $(t = P_{NA})$	Taxes ≻ Permits	Permits ≻ Taxes	Permits ≻ Taxes	Taxes = Permits	
	Scenario 4	Taxes $\lambda=lpha$; Permits $\lambda=lpha$			
Comparison $(t > P_{_{PA}})$	Taxes ≻ Permits	Permits ≻ Taxes	Taxes = Permits	Permits ≻ Taxes	
	Scenario 5	Taxes $\lambda=1$; Permits $\lambda=lpha$			
Comparison $(t > P_{PA})$	Taxes ≻ Permits	$Permits \succ Taxes$	Permits ≻ Taxes	Permits ≻ Taxes	
Scenario 6 Taxes $\lambda=1$; Permits $\lambda=1$					
Comparison $(t>P_{_{UA}})$	Taxes ≻ Permits	Permits ≻ Taxes	Taxes = Permits	Permits ≻ Taxes	